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The Origins of Medieval Grants of Arms

EARLY GRANTS OF ARMS are not impressive 
because of their artistic quality, but because of their in-
novative character. Of course, this is not only true for 

grants of arms alone but is a widespread phenomenon. Ab-
solute claims about the step-by-step development of grants 
of arms are next to impossible to prove. Before I turn to the 
extant grants and their decorations, however, it is necessary to 
define the objects in question:
– The term grant of arms describes charters that have

been given to a grantee (a physical person or an insti-
tution), usually by royal or imperial authorities, or by
their authorised representatives (e. g. the counts pal-
atine in Germany, or the kings of arms in England),
either to grant or augment a coat of arms, or in order
to grant and confirm the use of an existing or new coat
of arms. In addition, other acts of grace such as enno-
blements can be part of a grant of arms’ dispositio2.

– Illuminated with regard to grants of arms is meant to
indicate that at least the heraldic figure is depicted.

The Role of the Image at the Birth of Grants of Arms
Art historians take great interest in the question of wheth-
er the medium of the image played a significant part in 
the making of grants of arms from their origin. Was the 
image an essential part of the constitution of this type of 
charter? What was the driving force behind its develop-
ment?

When looking at the oldest extant illuminated grants 
of arms (1316, 1338, 1339, 1355), it appears that a de-
piction of the granted coat of arms was part of the origi-
nal concept

3
. However, things are not quite as simple as 

that. In 2013, Andreas Zajic and I addressed the ques-
tions outlined above in light of three grants, from 1305, 
1311 and 1318, although it is unclear as to whether these 
grants actually existed (which is a common problem), and 
whether these grants – if they were issued – were in fact 
illuminated with a depiction of the granted coat of arms

4
.

Until quite recently, the first non-illuminated grant 
was thought to have been made by Charles I of Hungary 
for Master Donch, Count of Zolyom (Zvolen) on 23 Oc-
tober 1327. This quite inconspicuous document, given as 
a reward for military merit, granted the Count of Zolyom 
the privilege of gilding his weapons, coat of arms, crest, 
and banner

5
. The armorial device to be gilded was not 

described and consequently not depicted.
Not long ago, attention was drawn to a charter issued 

by Rudolf I, count palatine of the Rhine, on 15 Decem-
ber 1294

6
, investing the reeves (Vögte) of Plauen – Henry 

the Older and Henry the Younger – as well as the reeves 
of Weida and Gera with a shield and banner (clipeum et 
bannirum sive vexillum) which they had previously re-
ceived from the Count’s ancestors. The resemblance of 
the of arms of the issuer and the recipients suggests – at 
first glance – a making of the act which corresponds to 
that of the later grants of arms

7
, of the older type

8
.

There is, however more to this case. The grantees had 
evidently held their coat of arms, which resemble the Pal-
atine lion, since 1244, and therefore long before grants 
of arms first appeared. In 1294, when coats of arms had 
already entered the legal sphere, the count palatine, in or-
der to integrate the case into the legal framework, claimed 
that it had been his ancestors who had performed the in-
vestiture, and that he himself was now merely confirming 
it. Against this claim made in the narratio it has to be said 
that the arms of the named reeves were – with the excep-
tion of the tincture colours and tinctures – identical to 
the arms of the neighbouring counts of Everstein, with 
whom the family also had feudal ties. In light of this ar-
gument, the similarity of the reeves’ lion to the Palatine 
lion has to be considered coincidental. In contrast to later, 
fully-fledged grants of arms it has to be noted that, despite 
the German king, Adolf of Nassau, being present, it was 
not he who issued the grant, but the higher ranking of the 
two parties affected by this clash of arms.

The charters mentioned so far are relatively incon-
spicuous in that they deal with coats of arms and thus with 
embellished military heraldry. The medium of the image 
is therefore intrinsic to the matter, making it unsurprising 
that non-illuminated charters did not have a significant 
impact.

A further finding adds to the complexity of the issue. 
By the grace of the French king Louis X le Hutin (1314–
16), and following a request from the bishop of Bayeux, 
permission was granted (de gratia concedimus) to the poor 
blind (pauperes ceci) of the city to use the bishop’s coat of 
arms (his family’s coat of arms augmented with an epis-
copal staff), crowned with a royal fleur-de-lys as a sign of 
special protection. How this was supposed to look was il-
lustrated on the charter (sub hac forma). While the charter 
itself is lost, an enrolled copy made in the royal chancery 
still exists, including a depiction of the granted emblem

9
.

In this case, an existing coat of arms and a heraldic 
element referring to the king merged into a single graphic 
symbol – a procedure constitutive for grants of arms of 
the older type

10
. It has to be mentioned, however, that the 

emblem granted to the poor blind was a graphic sign and 
not a proper coat of arms.

The first charter that can be classified with certainty as 
an illuminated grant of arms is an augmentation of arms 
issued on 11 March 1316 by Bernard de Coucy (Bernar-
dus de Cucuiaco), papal vicar general for Tuscia, to the 
town of Viterbo, to which he felt indebted. The charter 
was designed ad hoc and honoured the town, whilst the 
granted emblem or heraldry documented the political al-
legiance of the town (fig. 1)

11
.
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Fig. 1: 1316, Bernard de Coucy to Viterbo (see no. 11). http://monasterium.net/
mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection  

To sum up, it is necessary to differentiate the role played 
by the image. When heraldry turned from a private matter 
into an element of feudal law, and subsequently into a prince-
ly prerogative, sporadic charters documenting the granting 
(and transferring) of arms began to appear

12
. Since coats 

of arms are a visual means, non-illuminated charters could 
hardly suffice. The image consequently entered grants of 
arms from two directions: firstly, there was a unique charter 
by means of which the French king, acting on his own au-
thority, granted use of a specific visual symbol to a particular 
group of people. Second, the earliest proper illuminated grant 
of arms – in the sense of the definition outlined above – was 
written and illuminated in Italy. The combination of depicted 
coats of arms and a legal entity frequently granting arms to 
their subjects had not been found until then.

The Path to the First Imperial Grant of Arms
The desire of authorities issuing grants of arms to confer and 
depict coats of arms as symbols of political reference, which 
was the main intention of the older type of grants of arms, 
continued. There is as yet no evidence as to whether the popes 
continued to practise this. Louis the Bavarian – elected king 
of the Holy Roman Empire in 1314, widely acknowledged 
after the Battle of Mühldorf in 1322 and made Emperor 
in 1328 – apparently first issued a grant of arms in 1328 to 
Castruccio Castracani

13
. Although the original document is 

now lost, its visual concept must have been striking
14

; never-
theless, the central message, the politically expressive coat of 
arms, apparently was not part of the design.

The next imperial attempt is dated 24 June 1329 in 
Pavia, upon Louis’ return from his coronation in Rome. 
He granted imperial fiefdoms to Henry II Reuß, reeve of 
Plauen, Henry IV and Henry V, reeves of Gera, Henry XI 
and Henry XII, reeves of Weida, naming them principales 
ministeriales15. This charter was executed by an Italian scribe 
and featured an enlarged initial letter L (for Ludovicus) with 
two imperial eagles separated by a fess of penwork orna-
ment. An Italian was thus the first person to place a coat of 
arms into the decoration of royal and imperial charters. He 
seems to have been deliberately indecisive in his approach, 
hiding the image that is meant to act ideologically within 
the decoration. He chose a place often inhabited by mean-
ingless drolleries.

The next step was taken half a year later. On 1 January 
1330, Louis the Bavarian gave a charter to Berthold VII, 
count of Henneberg-Schleusingen (1272–1340), in Trent 
(Trento)

16
. In this case, not only the arms of the Emperor 

but also the arms of the grantee are part of the decorated 
initial. The relationship between content and decoration is 
now straightforward:

Fig. 2: 1330, Emperor Louis the Bavarian to Berthold of Henneberg, written by 
notary Leonhard von München (see no. 16). http://monasterium.net/mom/Illumi-

nierteUrkunden/collection

The initial letter in the Henneberg-Schleusingen charter 
is without a doubt historiated

17
, notwithstanding the fact that 

coats of arms are depicted instead of figures (see fig. 2).
The initial letter of this charter was decorated by Leon-

hard of Munich, who had been a notary in the imperial chan-
cery since January 1329

18 
and in subsequent years became the 

illuminator of many visually appealing charters
19

. The actual 
importance of the initial letter is, however, found in the coat 
of arms depicted: the shaft of the initial L is covered with an 
escutcheon bearing the imperial eagle on the top and the bot-
tom, while the middle is decorated with Bavarian lozenges 
(uncoloured). While Louis’ arms reappear in the decoration 
of the initial letter and the borders in a considerable number of 
later charters, the depiction of the canting arms of the grantee, 
a black hen, in the triangular bend of the L is unique. Howev-
er, Henneberg’s coat of arms was neither politically significant 

http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
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nor recently granted. The arrangement of the arms (of both 
the emperor and the grantee) corresponded exactly to the po-
sitions of the figures in the historiated initials that Leonhard 
of Munich executed between 1332 and 1339

20
. Again, it has 

to be stressed that the charters mentioned above are by no 
means grants of arms, but the first steps on the way towards 
the example to which we will now turn.

The First Imperial Grant of Arms
It was not until the Carbonesi grant of arms from 1338 (fig. 
3)

21 
that there was a breakthrough: The granted arms com-

bine the imperial eagle and the Bavarian lozenges, and were 
executed as a coloured pen drawing, which in comparison 
with other products of Louis’ chancery and later grants of 
arms, appears quite simple. In contrast to the curial example 
from 1316, the dispositio does not blason the coat of arms, but 
instead refers to the depiction: arma depicta presentibus et inser-
ta. This is remarkable since the image was thereby given a le-
gally binding function. The escutcheon is placed in the centre 
and thus dominates the overall appearance of the grant. With 
later developments in mind, this arrangement can be regard-
ed as the birth of the design that came to be characteristic of 
imperial grants of arms in the next two and a half centuries 

22
.

Thoughts on the Image Placed in the Centre of the Grant
Faced with the long-lasting influence of this design, a brief 
digression is in order: where did the idea of placing the coat 
of arms in the centre of the charter, surrounded by text, 
come from? After all, this would have required an additional 
amount of planning that was not normally part of the produc-
tion of charters or books.

Fig. 3: 1338, Emperor Louis the Bavarian grants a coat of arms to the brothers 
Boniface and Egesius de Carbonesibus, counts of San Giovanni in Persiceto (near Bo-

logna) (see no. 21). http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection  

From the point of view of diplomatics, the placing of mono-
grams has to be mentioned. Being part of the eschatocol, they 
are clearly separated from the main text. From Emperor Fred-
erick II onwards there existed, however, charters in which 
the monogram appears to be surrounded by text (normally 
parts of the eschatocol that were not emphasised visually)

23
. 

In the case of inserted charters, occasionally the monogram 
of the transcribed document is entirely surrounded by text, 
as a charter of King Henry VII demonstrates

24
. From Louis 

the Bavarian onwards, the convention was to leave dedicated 
space for the Imperial monogram within the actual text

25
.

Fig. 4: 1355, Santacroce grant, overall view (see no. 33). http://monasterium.net/
mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection  

In legal manuscript codices the main text is often placed in 
the centre of the folio, surrounded by the corresponding gloss-
es

26
. Yet this complex arrangement is a matter of the text and 

not of the image, for when such codices are illuminated (for 
example in the well-known cases from Bologna), the minia-
tures are always placed above the main text, and the initials at 
the beginning of the text, whether of a gloss or in the main text.

While both explanations have merit, a third one seems 
better, at least at first sight, namely a notarial instrument is-
sued in December 1028 in Bari that confirmed the morning 
gift of Magister Mel to his new wife Alfarana

27
. In the middle 

of the text a space has been left blank into which a coloured 
pen drawing depicting the newly married couple was insert-
ed. This case is the oldest extant illuminated charter that con-
tains a visualisation of the legal process recorded in the text. 
It remains, as far as we know, without successors. Leonhard 
of Munich would hardly have had this charter in mind when 
he conceived the Carbonesi grant of arms in Reutlingen in 
1338, which make the similarities even more remarkable.

Contemporaries could hardly have foreseen that this de-
sign, with some space left blank in the middle for the de-
piction of a coat of arms, was to become conventional. The 
grant of arms issued by John, king of Bohemia, on 9 August 
1339 in Wrocław (Breslau) is visually different

28
; the coat of 

arms is placed, as the text explicitly mentions, beneath the 
text. This became a design primarily used in Scandinavia.

Batch Production and the Depiction of Material Objects
The next extant grant of arms was issued on 25 May 1355 
in Pisa by the chancery of John’s son, Charles IV (reigned 
1346–78). This grant, discussed below, is an outstanding 
example and possibly the most perfect grant of arms ever is-
sued. It is therefore necessary to regard subsequent ones as 
generic

29
. A grant of arms issued to the brothers Hans and 

Claus Conczman von Staffurt by Charles’ son Wenzel
30 

will 
serve as an example for this generic, formal type. It is inter-
esting because of its content: as far as we know, this was the 
first illuminated grant of arms to be issued in the vernacular 
(German rather than Latin) and is also the oldest example of 
the younger type of grants of arms

31
. Furthermore, it is the 

oldest grant to depict a complete heraldic achievement.

http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
http://monasterium.net/mom/IlluminierteUrkunden/collection
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Wenzel’s grant of arms, given to Francesco Gonzaga on 
2 December 1394, is an entirely different case

32
. An upright 

rectangle and a narrow strip extending to the bottom line of 
the text were left blank and filled with a banner displaying 
the armorial bearings granted by the king. It is not so much 
the irregular contour of the blank parts (which we saw before 
in the grant of arms from 1355) but rather the fact that a 
material object is depicted, namely the military flag explicitly 
mentioned in the text.

The decades between 1290 and 1340 are to be regard-
ed as a creative phase of trial and error. In subsequent years, 
however, standards developed that saw their first peak during 
the reign of Charles IV.

Artistic Quality and the Artists Responsible
As well as innovation, it is the quality of the composition 
and execution that matters. An important aspect of an ad-
equate composition is that the image is not just pretty but 
fulfils the task at hand. The person commissioning the 
grant would expect, for example, that the arms be prop-
erly and recognisably depicted. Works of especially high 
quality were normally created by artists whose names are 
known, or who were associated with a specific group of 
illuminated manuscripts.

The Santacroce Grant of 1355
On 25 May 1355, the Paduan lawyer Giacomo Santacroce 
was appointed a member of the imperial household, elevat-
ed to the hereditary aristocracy and granted a coat of arms

33
. 

This is one of few imperial examples in which, in addition 
to a coat of arms, further privileges (in this case an ennoble-
ment) were granted. The arms are blazoned in the dispositio 
and depicted on the charter (fig. 4).

The position of the miniature follows the example of the 
1338 grant of arms. However, it is not just the coat of arms 
that is depicted, but the unevenly shaped miniature, which 
resemblesan initial (a symmetrical uncial M), displays the en-
throned emperor on the right and the grantee on his knees on 
the left, raising an oversized shield that is – in the manner of 
a grant – touched by the emperor. The miniature is a felici-
tous synthesis of a handover scene like those in the historiated 
initials of Emperor Louis

34
, and a clearly recognisable depic-

tion of the heraldically relevant elements, that is, the arms’ 
charges, like those on the Carbonesi grant of arms (fig. 3). 
The arms (argent, a lion rampant, gules, crowned or, with a 
fillet or) clearly express a close relationship with the ruler (the 
red lion rampant of the House of Luxembourg became the 
emblem of the Kingdom of Bohemia).

The charter’s size of 28x40cm is impressive, and indeed 
the objective was to create something outstanding. Giacomo 
Santacroce and John of Neumarkt, chancellor to Charles IV, 
worked with great skill. About the lawyer from Padua, we 
know little, about the chancellor, on the other hand, we know 
much: he was one of the most important commissioners of 
manuscripts during the booming book‒illuminating trade in 
Bohemia under Charles IV

35
. What makes this grant extraor-

dinary is the quality of the painting. The intriguing question 
as to the exact identity of the person who commissioned this 
remarkable decoration remains unanswered.

William Abell And His Artistic Environment
The leading English illuminator William Abell (whose name 
is known from written sources) like many of his colleagues, 
worked primarily on books, but many illuminators decorated 
administrative records as an extra source of income and thus 
also painted grants of arms

36
. The original grant to the Lon-

don Company of Drapers
37 

issued by William Bruges, Gar-
ter King of Arms

38
, on 10 March 1439 did not survive, but a 

notarial certified copy exists, that was issued on the following 
day by John Daunt in the presence of Garter King of Arms 
(fig. 5). The coronation of the Virgin Mary in the inner field 
of the initial, which refers to the guild’s patron saint, and the 
coat of arms placed at the centre top, supported by two large 
kneeling angels, are closely connected to the grant’s contents. 
Three of the margins are covered with a lavish, beautiful 
painted border, which Kathleen Scott has attributed to the 
Master of Duke Humfrey’s Psalter

39
. This is the earliest sur-

viving grant of arms from England and – most astonishingly 
– at the same time of incomparable quality. While this is not
an achievement ex nihilo – since there is a rich tradition of
illuminated royal charters – it is unique since it is the first
surviving illuminated (English) grant of arms

40
.

Fig. 5: 1439, Grant of arms to the Company of Drapers (see no. 37). https://
www.pinterest.at/pin/AYY0oWQMhgtcr-qxHtvwWlDfGC4x-eQLCT3h1S-

jpchJbi9XzGDMwpr4

In comparison, the grant of arms to the London Haber-
dashers in 1446

41 
is simpler, although the quality of the exe-

cution is equal. The patron saint, St Catherine, is seen in the 
inner field, the coat of arms is presented in the top centre by 
an angel, and an opulent border are common to these grants. 
This charter, together with two nearly identical documents 
from 1446, constitutes the core of the works left by Abell. 
The charters issued to King’s College, Cambridge

42
, and 

Eton College
43 

are two of the most widely known illuminated 
charters. This is also because members of both chambers of 
the English parliament were there depicted for the first time.

Jonathan Alexander has attributed to William Abell a 
charter for the London Tallow Chandlers’ Company, granted 
by Garter King of Arms John Smert on 24 September 1456

44
. 

The issuer is depicted at the centre of the initial. Fine foliate 
tendrils with small gilded or coloured leaves extend from the 

http://www.pinterest.at/pin/AYY0oWQMhgtcr-qxHtvwWlDfGC4x-eQLCT3h1SjpchJbi9XzGDMwpr4
http://www.pinterest.at/pin/AYY0oWQMhgtcr-qxHtvwWlDfGC4x-eQLCT3h1SjpchJbi9XzGDMwpr4
http://www.pinterest.at/pin/AYY0oWQMhgtcr-qxHtvwWlDfGC4x-eQLCT3h1SjpchJbi9XzGDMwpr4
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initial to the upper border (spray border) while to the left 
the armorial achievement is displayed; the crest consisting of 
three quarters of an angel’s figure holding a platter with the 
head of John the Baptist (Johannesschüssel). Kathleen Scott 
had good reason to separate the Abingdon Missal and the 
charter of 1456 from Abell’s oeuvre, and attribute them to a 
colleague, whose quality exceeds even Abell’s skills

45
.

From the 1440s to the 1460s there appears to have been 
a surge of demand for illuminated grants in England: in par-
ticular, the London guilds competed for the most lavishly 
decorated grant of arms (and other charters), recruiting the 
most skilled illuminators available.

The Master of the “Handregistratur” of Frederick III
The artistically more advanced Meister der Handregistratur 
appeared in Vienna almost simultaneously with William 
Abell. His eponymous opus dates from 1446

46
, and his hith-

erto known extant products (1446–1463) have been dis-
cussed elsewhere

47
. In this essay, two more grants of arms are 

attributed to this master who was able to depict the reflec-
tions of light upon various surfaces so skillfully that an almost 
haptic effect is created. Occasionally, objects were painted as 
though they were actually placed on the page. Such char-
acteristics of style cannot be explained without reference to 
contemporary contact with the most recent developments in 
Flemish art.

On St Margaret’s Day (likely 13 July) 1454, King 
Ladislaus the Posthumous issued a grant of arms to Nico-
laus Flins de Puzck, nobilis de terra Brussie, burgess of 
Bratislava, and his brothers John, Peter, Erasmus and 

Donatus, and their descendants, as a token of aristocracy 
(hec arma seu nobilitatis insignia) (fig. 6a)

48
. As was cus-

tomary in Hungary, the depiction of the coat of arms was 
placed at the beginning of the text. The text is compara-
tively brief, since the blason is missing, and instead, only 
a reference to the visual depiction is made. For this rea-
son, the square image area is placed to the left of the text. 
The masterly skills of the painter are exemplified by the 
gem‒clad wooden frame, which surrounds the deep blue 
ground-colour of the miniature.

On 23 June 1460 in Vienna, Emperor Frederick is-
sued a formally uncommon grant of arms to Nicolas (Nic-
colò) Perotti, Archbishop of Sipoto

49
. The emperor ele-

vated the family’s possessions (Isola Centipera) to a coun-
ty and augmented the coats of arms of all descendants of 
Nicolas’ father Francesco by quartering the shield with a 
black (imperial) eagle in the first and fourth quarter. Fred-
erick had previously created the petitioner poet laureate 
in Bologna, and now he used another solemn privilege 
to reward the humanist, who accompanied the papal leg-
ate Cardinal Bessarion to the North Alpine parts of the 
Empire. Beneath the area left blank for the heraldic min-
iature is another area filled with the imperial monogram; 
after the grant of arms and ennoblement of Giacomo San-
tacroce in 1355, this is, to my knowledge, the first case of 
such a prominent design for a grant of arms. As with the 
earlier case, an explicit heraldic reference to the grantor of 
the coat of arms is made here too. The craftsmanship of 
the Master of Frederick III’s Handregistratur expresses it-
self in the decoration of the frame, which is very similar to 
a later grant of arms given to the Austrian city of Krems

50 

(fig. 6b and 6c).
That this avantgarde master was by no means overlooked 

in Central Europe is evident in the grant of arms, elevating 
the status of Caspar Pernwert (19 December 1465, Wiener 
Neustadt), which must have been inspired by the master’s 
earlier products

51
.

Master of Frederick’s Breviary or Valentin Noh?
In 2013, I attributed two grants of arms to the master of 
Frederick’s Breviary (Meister des Friedrichsbreviers), albeit 
with some reservations

52
. The first was given by King Vla-

dislaus II of Bohemia to the cloth makers of Laun/Louny 
in 1473 and depicts St George fighting the dragon (fig. 7a).

Fig. 7: 1473, Clothmakers of Laun (see no. 53) (a) and copper engraving of 
Master E.S. (see no. 55) (b).

Fig. 6: 1454, Coat of arms from 
the Flins charter (see no. 48) (a) 
with details of the frame from the 
Krems (1443 – see no. 50) (b) 
and Perotti (1440 – see no. 49) 
(c) charters; all by the master of 

the ›Handregistratur‹ of Frederick
III. http://monasterium.net/mom/
IlluminierteUrkunden/collection

http://monasterium.net/mom/
http://monasterium.net/mom/
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It is the delicate filigree work in the margins of the armorial 
miniature that link it to the early years of the Austrian phase 
of the Master of Frederick’s Breviary (c. 1475/80), since the 
filigree work as well as the facial types correspond, for the 
most part, to the eponymous breviary

54
. As was customary 

for him to do, the Master copied copper engravings made 
by Master E. S., in this case the dragon fallen onto its back, 
from Lehrs 146 (fig. 7b)

55
.

The second piece I discussed was a grant of arms by Em-
peror Frederick III to the Old Town (Altstadt) of Prague

56
, 

which did not contain any figural elements. The general idea 
of the image (Bildidee) obviously refers back to a possible ap-
plication of the coat of arms as a banner (Streitpanyren) men-
tioned in the dispositio: The image area is pierced by the shaft 
of a lance, and the attached banner covers most of the area. 
The tip of the lance, however, overlaps the upper frame of 
the miniature

57
. Again, I would like to draw attention to the 

filigree work and also to the creasy drapery.
It was Milada Studničkova

58 
who attributed both doc-

uments, together with other Bohemian grants of arms
59

, to 
Valentin Noh

60
. The figural elements should also be men-

tioned along with the characteristic filigree work and the high 
standard of the painting. Furthermore, the confirmation of 
the grant of arms for the Old Town of Prague by Vladislaus 
II (18 April 1477, Prague), which is almost indistinguishable 
from the original grant

61
, and the grant of arms to the furriers 

of the Old Town in Prague (28 April 1473, Prague)
62 

– the 
earliest example from this group – must not be omitted.

The face of Archangel Michael in the grant of arms to 
Taus, his straight nose, small mouth and full lips, his nar-
row eyes and blonde hair flowing down his back, is akin to 
the depiction of St George by the cloth makers of Laun and 
finds an equivalent in the figure of St Vitus in the prayer 
book of Vladislaus

63
.

Ulrich Schreier
Another member of the same generation was Ulrich Schrei-
er, an illuminator from Salzburg who produced a consider-
able body of work in his workshop between 1460 and 1490

64
. 

Fig. 8a and 8b: 1497, Juxtaposition of the grant by Maximilian I to the sons of the 
duke of Milan, painted by Giovan Pietro Birago (see no. 67) and a detail of the 

Sforza Hours (see no. 69).

He signed some of his works, although the grant of arms 
to the Bavarian town of Weißenburg

65 
is attributed to him 

based on stylistic comparison. While it is formally similar to 

the coat of arms granted to Taus, the style of the supporting 
angel’s semi-figure is almost identical to the figure on fol. 7v 
of the Greiner Marktbuch, one of Schreier’s later and most 
important works

66
.

Giovan Pietro Birago and the Milan Renaissance
After having focused on Central European examples, I will 
conclude this paper with a European grand tour of grants from 
the chancery of Emperor Maximilian. In a charter granted 
on 5 June 1497 in Füssen (Bavaria) or 23 July 1497 in Imst 
(Tyrol), he awarded a coat of arms to those descendants of 
Duke Lodovico Sforza (il Moro) who would not succeed as 
dukes of Milan

67
.

An older attribution of this document, which perished 
in World War Two, to the famous renaissance book paint-
er Pietro Birago was recently confirmed by Paul Wescher

68
. 

Indeed, the angels acting as supporters in the grant of arms 
and similar celestial beings depicted in the Sforza Hours69 in 
London are absolutely identical (fig. 8) 

70
. Birago was also re-

sponsible for the decoration of a privilege by which the duke 
conferred Cusago to his wife Beatrice d’Este as a gift

71
. This 

is another example of the great tradition of illuminated ducal 
charters in Lombardy.

The Ghent–Bruges School
The sixteenth century also saw an ever-increasing amount of 
richly decorated grants of arms. This is true for the Empire, 
Hungary, England, and Spain, but certainly also for other 
parts of Europe.

To take one grant of arms (almost) at random, we turn to 
that issued by Emperor Maximilian I (on 10 February 1517) 
to the parish church of St Mary in Bozen (Bolzano), and to 
the parish priest Ulrich Lehensdorffer, chaplain to the Em-
peror and senior of the Order of St George

72
. In the middle 

of the text a tall rectangular area is marked out. Flower blos-
soms, birds, snails, butterflies, and caterpillars are depicted on 
the beige ground, together with a coat of arms with an ines-
cutcheon for Austria and a Madonna with rays of light, stand-
ing upon a crescent moon. The shield’s red cross pattée in the 
silver base refers to the Order of St George. In this case, the 
place of issue, Antwerp, gives a clue as to the grant’s style. The 
so-called Ghent–Bruges School had come to represent paint-
ed artwork of the highest possible standard in terms of haptic 
presence, which expresses itself here in the flowers, plants and 
animals that appear to have been hand‒placed on the border. 
The stylistic differentiation of works produced by the school 
is one of the most controversial and most difficult tasks of style 
criticism, one that I am not going to undertake

73
. The figure 

of Mary seems to belong to a specific style associated with a 
miniature in the prayer book of James IV of Scotland and his 
wife Margaret Tudor (fol. 243r)

74
. Whether the prototypes 

used by the illuminator of the grant of arms are to be found 
in the œuvre of this master, or even with Gerard Horenbout, 
and whether these can indeed be clearly distinguished, has to 
remain open for debate. The quality of the figure is consider-
able, but it cannot compete with that of the aforementioned 
pieces of the highest standard possible. This is also true in 
the case of the border, which is covered with flower blossoms, 
snails, a bird and other animals.



16

Concluding Remarks
There are many layers and subtleties to the early develop-
ment of illuminated grants of arms. On the one hand, one has 
to take into account non-illuminated proto-grants of arms such 
as that from 1294. On the other hand, there were illuminated 
grants of visual emblems, which were not coats of arms in the 
heraldic sense of the word, for example the French charter 
from 1315.

While innovation and quality of execution are by no 
means mutually exclusive, to find them together is indeed a 
rare occurrence: Exceptions include the grant of arms to Ja-
copo Santacroce in 1355 in the Holy Roman Empire, and, 
in England, the grant of arms to the Drapers’ Company in 
1439.

What holds true for illuminated charters in general also 
holds true for grants of arms: there were dedicated special-
ists, for example Leonhard of Munich, and there were ac-
complished book painters engaged for special tasks. Grants 
of arms (and more generally illuminated charters) are an im-
portant source for art history, since they are normally dated 
and the location of their creation is known, and thus mark 
fixed points in the historical development of style.

For heraldry and diplomatics illuminated grants of arms 
are of importance because they make clear that both issuer 
and grantee desired to have more than a mere legal docu-
ment. The charter – also by virtue of its artistic splendour 
– was supposed to make a lasting impression on any contem-
porary or future beholder. This function grants of arms fulfil 
with distinction, as even nowadays they serve – inwardly – as 
objects of self-identification for the identification of their re-
cipients (including individuals, families, cities, and profes-
sional associations), and provide a means of representation in 
the public sphere.
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